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We heard the employee's claim for benefits on February 11, 1999, at Anchorage, Alaska.  The employee appeared, representing himself.  Attorney Robert Griffin represented the employer Alaska Sales and Service (AS&S) and its carrier.  Attorney Joseph Cooper represented the employer Business Machine Center and its carrier until December 1, 1995, Cigna (BMC-Cigna).  Attorney Trena Heikes represented the employer Business Machine Center and its carrier effective December 1, 1995, Fireman's Fund (BMC-FF).  The three insurers argue a consolidated defense.  We closed the record at the hearing's conclusion.  


ISSUE

Whether the employee suffers from a compensable, work-related injury.  


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE AND PROCEEDINGS

The employee began working for AS&S as an automobile painter on September 2, 1985.  On July 1, 1987, the employee reported an exposure injury from the paint fumes at the employer's premises.  "Post-injury (exposure), Mr. Thomassen's initial complaints were of difficulty keeping his balance, difficulty in his speech pattern, headaches, loss of coordination, difficulty concentrating, memory loss, lightheadedness as well as vertigo."  (March 26, 1991 compromise and release agreement (C&R)).  From September 11, 1987, until September 24, 1991, the employee received $109,396.74 in temporary total disability benefits.  AS&S also paid the employee's medical benefits which totaled $46,802.81 as of March of 1991. (Id.)


In November of 1988, AS&S also agreed to pay for the employee's vocational rehabilitation plan.  The employee graduated from Charter College as an electronics technician in June of 1990.  The Division of Vocational Rehabilitation and Charter College assisted with placement and on the job training.  (Id.)


Issues remained outstanding regarding aspects of the reemployment plan, and the characterization of certain benefits.  Accordingly, the parties entered in to a March 26, 1991 C&R.
  According to the terms of the C&R, the employee waived all benefits from AS&S, except future medical benefits.  Specifically, the C&R provides at page 6:  "It is agreed that the employer and carrier will be responsible under the terms of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Act for reasonable and necessary medical expenses, which although incurred in the future, are attributable to the injury described herein."  


In exchange for waiving all benefits except medicals, the employee received $46,681.50 in a lump sum, characterized as permanent partial disability.  The employee acknowledges that AS&S's exposure is limited to medical benefits related to his employment with that employer.  The employee has not argued or petitioned to overturn the C&R.  


Prior to the approval of the C&R, the employee began working for BMC on February 12, 1991 as a repair technician; primarily working on copy machines.  Although he would occasionally perform repair work at the employer's premises, most often he would service machines in clients' offices.  


The employee testified that from May to September of 1995, he and other co-workers noticed odors from the adjoining print shop.  He testified that around October of 1995, when the weather got significantly colder, he began to notice more smells from the "fumes."  


Theresa R. Kohli,  the receptionist / secretary for BMC, testified at the February 11, 1999 hearing at the employee's request.  Ms. Kohli corroborated the employee's testimony regarding the smells at their workplace.  She testified that she developed headaches, nausea and other symptoms, which she attributes to her workplace.  She testified that all employees at BMC had similar reactions to the odors.  She testified that, at one point, she had to be taken to the emergency room because of the fumes and odors.


The employee testified he began spending more time in the shop at the employer's premises in December of 1995.  He testified that his symptoms increased in conjunction with the amount of time he spent at the shop.  The employee testified he took time off work, and eventually sought medical help in January, 1996.  


The owner of BMC, Bill Vail, also noticed the smell and complained of headaches and nausea.  He contacted the landlord with his complaints.  In a letter to adjuster Terry Stoddard of Firemans Fund regarding the employee, Ms. Kohli, and one other claimant, adjuster Gary Rawie from Professional Adjusters wrote:  



Following our telephone conversation on January 4, 1996, I was able to make contact this date with insured, Bill Vail, and met with him  to receive additional testing print out results and his summary of the efforts made by the building owner to correct the ongoing problem.



It is my understanding that the building owner has now acknowledged that the problem originates from the print shop next door and they believe that it began after the building was remodeled and several room doors were eliminated.  They are now in the process of reinstalling those doors to isolate the fumes.  They have also installed a large exhaust fan in the work shop and they have changed the location of the exit vent on the roof to separate it to a greater distance from the incoming air vent.



As summarized in the enclosed memo to me from Bill Vail dated January 5, 1995, their work area appears to be somewhat improved but only if they leave the shop door closed. Apparently, when the shop door is closed it allows air to be drawn through the new vent where as if the door is open, air is drawn from the adjoining office through the insured's work space and into the shop before it is then exited.



According to Mr. Vail, the owner is again testing the air quality today in the shop and will be testing the air quality over the weekend in the insured's office area.  If the air quality has not been significantly improved by Monday, January 8, 1996, Mr. Vail advises that he will be notifying the building that they will be vacating the premises.



As indicated on the enclosed test result print outs, the readings of the multi‑gas sensor, which apparently reads 10 different chemicals, which have not been identified to the insured,  consistently reads in the 400 to 600 whereas normal is in the 275 to 375 range. Carbon dioxide is also above acceptable limits, but the carbon monoxide problem has been apparently corrected.



I have also enclosed copies of faxes dated January 2 and January 3, 1996, from Mr. Vail to building manager, Jim Misko, setting forth his continuing complaints and a copy of a January 2, 1996, reply memo from Mr. Misko.  Mr. Vail will provide to me next week the print out of the air quality tests being conducted over the weekend and will at that time advise me of his decision relative to staying or vacating the premises.  


At the February 11, 1999 hearing, Robert J. Grynder testified on behalf of the employee.  Mr. Grynder is the lead instructor for the Alaska Health Project, and its director of safety and training.  Mr. Grynder's participation in the case is personal, not related to his employment.  Mr. Grynder testified as to his qualifications in the areas of environmental and occupational issues.  


At the request of the employee, Mr. Grynder evaluated the BMC facility.  Mr. Grynder did observe the facility, but did not actually go inside the building because he was "denied access."  In his report dated April 1, 1998, Mr. Grynder opined:  "Based upon documentation available and an analysis of the evidence and standards as listed in the REFERENCES, Paul Thormsson (sic) was exposed to hazardous chemicals in his workplace because of HVAC operation within the building he was working, causing an injury."  Mr. Grynder testified during his February 8, 1999 deposition that he prepared the report based on the employee's request:  



And based upon that request, I went through the EPA's checklist for building owners and facility managers, looking at what ‑‑ through a proactive investigation of complaints or just a straight analysis of the workplace in commercial buildings, what was available; then compared that to what I had in the way of reports, Material Safety Data Sheets, looking up different routes of exposure, the level of concentration based upon the permissible exposure limits that an employee would be allowed to have without protection, hazardous communications program within businesses based upon the hazardous workers' right to know.




Based upon those references as I wrote in the report, my opinion said that not only was the possibility there, but the probability ‑‑ the probability were there, but the possibility was unmistakable. The man, in my opinion, had no choice but to be exposed to level of concentration above the permissible exposure limit, above the short‑term exposure limit. And those definitions are explained in the report. If you want me to go into the definitions for the record, I can.



Q.
I'm not asking you to do that. 



A.
Okay. Remember, those exposures are for most people. You and I can be exposed to the exact same chemical, the exact same level of concentration for the exact same amount of time. I'll suffer an adverse health effect, you won't. Depends on age, physical health, heredity, lung capacity, factors that we can't control; race, gender all play a part in whether someone suffers a adverse health effect or not.



That adverse health effect and the manifestations thereof can be anything from watery, itchy eyes, a skin rash. It could be a mutagen, it could be a teratogen, al the way up to and including death. And those ‑‑ the physical manifestations of that exposure might not exhibit themselves for 10, 20, 30 years.  And we are just now looking at synergistic effects of chemicals, just now looking at multiple chemical sensitivity. I mean, we didn't even have any workers' compensation laws when I went into the work force, when you went into the work force. They did not exist. At that time we were ‑‑ in 1970, we were killing 33 workers a day on the job every day. 25 years later, almost 30 years later, we are down to only killing 18. We have known since 1907 that for each worker death, we are going to hospitalize 30 workers. For each worker death, we are going to injure 3,000 workers on the job. And last year We killed 42 workers in this state. That means better than ‑‑ right at 1260 workers hospitalized and 126,000 were injured.  ‑‑‑ Alaska only has five times the national average of worker deaths. That's pretty stout. That's why I do what I do.  Now, a lot of people don't know that. We injured half the work force in the state.

(Grynder dep. at 20 - 22).


Regarding the air quality testing conducted, Mr. Grynder testified:  



Q.
This device was taken ‑‑ before the STAEFA unit was taken and put into Business Machine Center, this device was taken off the wall of Professional Colorgraphics, placed on the inside wall of the office section of Business Machine Center. The alarm on this detector sounded off. Would this suggest to you that there was more in the air than just a slight odor detected? 



A.
Oh, absolutely. Those units are designed to achieve an audio and visual alarm sound once you reach a given level of concentration. Normally those are based upon the threshold limit of value, which is a recommendation put out by the American Conference of Governmental and Industrial Hygienists or a recommended exposure level put out by NIOSH that is normally lower levels of concentration than is permissible exposure limit, which is a published law and 29 CFR 1910.1000.



Those units are designed to either alert workers of hazardous substances in the workplace and to evacuate, or they are designed to automatically open or close ventilation systems, local exhaust systems, general exhaust systems, to take those toxic levels below that of the PEL or TLV or ‑‑ TLV, threshold limit value. REL, recommended exposure limit, or PEL, permissible exposure limit. Don't want to slur my words.  



The bottom line, if the alarm goes off, run away, do something.



Q.
The chemical fumes that were expelled out of the vents onto the roof of the building ‑‑ building has a pony wall. Can we assume that the MSDS sheets ‑‑ that a lot of these chemical fumes and vapors are considered heavier than air?



A.
That's affirmative. Vapor density is either greater than one or less than.one. The MSDS sheets in this case indicated that a vapor density of greater than one existed, and therefore when the system comes on, those vapors or fumes will go to low lying areas, normally lying below that of the pony wall. Either with high winds or any wind at all you are still going to develop eddy currents where that vapor will just go around in a circle even though you have got a wind path over the top of it.

(Id. at 55 - 56).  


Mr. Grynder did acknowledge that his expertise is limited to the technical aspect, and he has no medical expertise. 



A.
. . . I can't tell you medically if Mr. Thomassen has an adverse medical condition. I can't tell you that. I can tell you that the ‑‑ from what I was given, the way that building was put together, the modifications that did or did not take place, that the probability is 100 percent that that man was exposed to hazardous chemicals.  The adverse health effect I cannot tell you.  I'm not a doctor.  Never have been a doctor. Don't want to be a doctor except for not an M.D. anyway.

(Id. at 30).  



Q.
Other than this report from the gentleman in California and these Professional Adjusters' reports, were there any other reports, medical or otherwise, that you relied upon? 



A.
I do not deal in the medical field. I'm not an M.D. I'm not a medical practitioner.  The biggest thing I have is I was an emergency trauma technician. I only deal with the indoor air quality issue as it concerns the workplace in the probability or possibility of that workplace being contaminated. The answer is yes.

(Id. at 46).  

 
At the request of AS&S the employee was examined by Brent T. Burton, M.D., on June 1, 1998.  Dr. Burton serves (among other positions) as the Medical Director for Occupational Health Services at the Oregon Health Sciences University.  Dr. Burton also testified extensively in person at the February 11, 1999 hearing.  In his 21 page, June 29, 1998 report, Dr. Burton summarized the employee's medical treatment, both before and after 1995.  We found his summary of the employee's medical treatment accurately and fairly summarized the employee's voluminous medical records.  At pages 8 to 15, Dr. Burton summarized:  


Mr. Thomassen first reported concerns about indoor air fume exposure to Dr. Ligus
 on 8 January 1996 when he called the office and complained about shaking and headache.  Dr. Ligus was not in the office at that time and he was instructed by the nurse to stay off work.


Mr. Thomassen was evaluated by Dr. Ligus on 15 January 1996 regarding his perceived problem of fume exposure. Dr. Ligus recorded symptoms of headache, lightheadedness and dizziness and going completely blind for two seconds.  Mr. Thomassen also described hallucinations and a flashing sensation in his visual field.  Mr. Thomassen apparently provided information regarding carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide and other substances but Dr. Ligus noted that the levels were not necessarily associated with illness. A carboxyhemoglobin level was measured at 11%. It was also found that the MCV was elevated which was felt related to vitamin B12 deficiency. Based upon these data Dr. Ligus felt that a migraine disorder may be an appropriate diagnosis and recommended Imitrex.


Mr. Thomassen continued follow‑up with Dr. Ligus every few weeks and reported that his headache was continuing.  In response Dr. Ligus prescribed Ultram, Talwin, Midrin and Loricet in addition to continuing Prozac. In addition, it appears that Dr. Ligus also recommended removal from work on 8 April 1996. The final follow‑up visit with Dr. Ligus occurred on 19 June 1996.


Mr. Thomassen underwent a comprehensive psychiatric examination by Carroll M. Brodsky, M.D. on 13 September 1996. Dr.  Brodsky recorded a detailed history obtained from Mr. Thomassen noting that he had been employed at Business Machine Center in Anchorage, Alaska for six years but had not worked since January 1996.  Dr. Brodsky noted that Mr. Thomassen had been a paint and automotive spray painter previously and "got mixed up with some paint that my body couldn't handle" after which he was evaluated at the University of Washington and a "toxic exposure" was diagnosed and it was necessary for him to change professions. Mr. Thomassen described working with the new material after which he developed shortness of breath and chest pain within one week and was evaluated at the hospital.  Subsequently his doctor took him off work.  Mr. Thomassen also complained of equilibrium difficulties and headaches and felt that none of the medications relieved his problems. After an evaluation at Harborview Medical Center in Seattle, Washington, Dr. Ligus prescribed Prozac which Mr. Thomassen felt was helpful but he continued to be somatic with depression. After a vocational retraining program for eighteen months, he continued to experience headaches, nausea and problems with equilibrium and remained off work for the next year and a half. After conducting a thorough history, mental status examination and review of Mr. Thomassen's medical records, Dr. Brodsky concluded that the only psychiatrist diagnosis he could attach to Mr. Thomassen was that of somatoform disorder. Dr. Brodsky did not feel that there was evidence of memory impairment on examination and there was no evidence of organic factors present on the examination.  Additionally, Dr. Brodsky reviewed the records and observed that they revealed no evidence of objective findings that would explain his nine years of symptoms.  Dr. Brodsky did not feel that the psychological testing supported a diagnosis of organic mental disorder, specifically noting that he was not a very good student in school and that the test scores would not be expected to be any different than those developed by Dr. Townes in her testing.  Also, his ability to learn an entirely new trade was an indication that he did not have an organic mental disorder.  Dr. Brodsky also noted that Mr. Thomassen became depressed around the time of 1987 and had been treated for depression with Desyrel or Prozac.  Dr. Brodsky felt that it was predictable that Mr. Thomassen would have become concerned about another possible exposure and that when exposed to unpleasant odors would become anxious, attempt to hold his breath and hyperventilate. This mechanism would explain his numbness and tingling.  Dr. Brodsky concluded 'that the odors in the print shop were not sufficient to add any increment of physical or mental impairment or disability.


A report issued 30 September 1996 by Ilene Danse, M.D. describes a comprehensive evaluation regarding toxicology, clinical pharmacology and internal medicine evaluation of Mr. Thomassen.  Dr. Danse described Mr. Thomassen's work environment noting that he relocated to a two story building occupied by a print shop.  Mr. Thomassen complained of experiencing an odor in the office area followed by a rancid taste, headaches, burning eyes and light‑headedness. Mr. Thomassen described his theory of how the solvent vapors were exhausted into his building but Dr. Danse was unable to confirm this theory based on any documentation.  Dr. Danse noted that he was currently taking a variety of medications including aspirin, Talacen, trazodone, Prozac, Proventil inhaler and Atrovent as needed. The material safety data sheets of the print materials were reviewed which comprised color press black, isopropanol, color wash step one/roller wash, Varn roller wash and blanket and roller wash.  Dr. Danse conducted a physical examination and ordered laboratory studies which revealed an unremarkable chemistry panel, thyroid studies, blood count, urinalysis and immunologic studies.  Serum volatile substances were not detected. A serum protein electrophoresis revealed a normal pattern. The serum iron was slightly reduced at 45 mcg/dI with saturation reduced to 16%.  Based on these data, Dr. Danse concluded that Mr. Thomassen was experiencing depression and somatization and recommended referral to an appropriate psychiatric specialist. Dr. Danse concluded that there was no evidence of a toxic injury or exposure at the Business Machine Center and felt that Mr. Thomassen was dependent upon medication and experiencing side effects. Dr. Danse noted that Mr. Thomassen had been treated consistently for depression since 1988 and no changes were seen in his symptoms for many years which have been more or less the same since the 1980's. Dr. Danse explained in detail how Mr. Thomassen may have experienced an odor episode but he did not experience symptoms or findings consistent with solvent intoxication and there was no evidence of temporary or permanent disability.


A review of Mr. Thomassen's records was conducted by Francis W. Weir, Ph.D. and a report was issued 18 February 1997.  Dr. Weir reviewed Mr. Thomassen's medical records in addition to industrial hygiene reports regarding the print shop and concluded that there was a "limited potential for excessive release of chemicals into the workplace from this process" and concurred with an accounting of Mr. Vortouni who had previously provided an accounting of the equipment, operation and chemicals utilized by Color Graphics Printing Company in a report of 12 July 1996. Dr. Weir concluded that Mr. Thomassen may have received some exposure to chemicals but the duration or intensity was insufficient to result in a physiologic effect.


On 20 February 1997, Richard A. Cuneo, M.D., neurologist, issued a fifty‑six page report regarding his evaluation of Mr. Thomassen which reflected a consensus of Dr. Cuneo, Dr. Danse and Dr. Brodsky regarding Mr. Thomassen's condition.  Dr. Cuneo outlined Mr. Thomassen's first industrial injury involving his work as a painter noting that he had used a new paint for two weeks before his symptoms began.  The second alleged injury occurred in mid‑October 1995 after moving into a smaller office space and experiencing decreased memory and hallucinations with violent shaking. At the time of the evaluation, Mr. Thomassen expressed a wide variety of symptoms including head discomfort, decreased memory, visual symptoms, "spells," dizziness and tinnitus. Dr. Cuneo recorded a detailed neurologic examination in addition to reviewing the numerous medical records and additional data. Dr. Cuneo noted that, in regard to Mr. Thomassen's continuing symptoms of head discomfort, his neurologic examination and the examinations reported by other neurologists had always been normal.  Thus, an MRI brain scan and an angiogram of the vessels was carried out on 21 August 1996 which was entirely normal.  Dr. Cuneo pointed out that review of the medical records revealed continuing complaints of headaches that had been persistent since 1987.  Dr. Cuneo felt that this implied a migraine mechanism. Dr. Cuneo also considered the association of Mr. Thomassen's use of narcotic analgesics which may be contributory to his headache symptoms. Dr. Cuneo discussed the relationship between odor and triggering a migraine headache but observed that there was no increase in his basic tendency to migraine headaches and that an "odor episode" would have no. long term implications for an underlying migraine problem. In regard to Mr. Thomassen's complaints of decreased memory, Dr. Cuneo noted that his performance with informal mental status testing demonstrated strong abilities in recent memory and general cognitive functioning.  His visual symptoms in addition to "spells," dizziness and tinnitus were not considered to be related to an occupational exposure.  After conducting a conference with Dr. Brodsky and Dr. Danse, Dr. Cuneo recorded overall conclusions indicating that Mr. Thomassen had experienced "an odor episode" and did not have symptoms characteristic of solvent intoxication while working at the Business Machine Center.  There was concern about the amount of medications he was using and that some of the medications may produce a sense of imbalance.  It was concluded there was no physiologic basis to explain Mr. Thomassen's symptoms other than migraine headaches and they were not related to an alleged occupational exposure of October 1995.  Because of the past exposure of 1987, it was felt that secondary gain may be playing a role and that somatoform disorder was a more likely explanation of Mr. Thomassen's ongoing symptoms.


Mr. Thomassen established medical care with John C. Mues, M.D. after attempting to contact D. Bryan, M.D. on 13 June 1997 who indicated that he previously informed Mr. Thomassen that he would not accept his case after he was apparently seen in the office complaining of chest pain and stress with difficulty sleeping.  An electrocardiogram was done to rule out an acute MI which was felt to be normal.  He was given twenty Xanax tablets and referred to Dr. Mues.


Dr. Mues initially evaluated Mr. Thomassen on 23 June 1997 with a chief complaint of "work comp times ten years" in addition to chemical exposure/dizziness/ light‑headed. Dr. Mues recorded a brief history of "chemical exposure" indicating that Mr. Thomassen had a past history of a chemical exposure while working as a car painter twelve years and since that time had chronic headaches, light‑headedness, depression and his case had been kept open for many years. Mr. Thomassen states that he experienced a second exposure at another job site with unspecified chemicals and felt worse with increasing headaches, dizziness and felt that he could not return to work. Dr. Mues indicated that he had undergone legal proceedings but the results were unclear to him. It was noted that Dr. Ligus had been his treating physician until he left town. Current medications included Prozac, Desyrel and an unknown pain medication. Dr. Mues observed that the history was disjointed and Mr. Thomassen appeared to have difficulty concentrating but had brought a notebook with legal notes from prior evaluations. Dr. Mues conducted a physical examination which revealed an elevated blood pressure at 150/110 torr.  Mr. Thomassen appeared to be plethoric and tremulous.  No other abnormalities were noted.  Dr. Mues concluded that Mr. Thomassen had hypertension and needed a beta blocker for treatment and felt that his tremor may be secondary to anxiety.  Dr. Mues recorded a diagnosis of "chemical exposure" but was unsure as to the full extent. He diagnosed COPD and cigarette smoking and recommended that he quit smoking and that his smoking was aggravating his current problems.  He also diagnosed depression which seemed to be present possibly from exposure or other source and that he may need specific treatment but should avoid narcotics or benzodiazepines. Chronic headaches were also diagnosed.  Dr. Mues recommended obtaining laboratory studies and initiated treatment with Atenolol 25 mg q.d. Sigmoidoscopy was planned for a later date.


Mr. Thomassen returned for follow‑up with Dr. Mues on 01 July 1997 with complaints of increased headaches and light‑headedness over the past week. He complained that the headaches were associated with confusion and hot flashes and sweating. Dr. Mues noted that he was smoking one and a half packs of cigarettes per day and consuming two beers per week.  Vital signs revealed blood pressure 138/90, pulse 90/minute, respirations 22/minute. Faint wheezes were noted on chest examination.  On neurologic examination the tremors seemed reduced.  Laboratory urinalysis revealed 2+ leukocytes.  The CBC, thyroid stimulating hormone and PSA were all normal. Total cholesterol was elevated at 254. Dr. Mues recorded a diagnosis of possible prostatitis, hypertension and a chemical exposure of which he was unsure about the full extent. He also reiterated his diagnoses of COPD and depression and recommended avoiding narcotics or benzodiazepines. A urine culture was ordered and antibiotic treatment with doxycycline was initiated. A trial of Imitrex was initiated.


Mr. Thomassen returned for follow‑up with Dr. Mues on 15 July 1997 and complained of feeling "spacy" with elevated blood pressure. Dr. Mues observed that the urinalysis revealed no evidence of infection. Examination revealed a macular rash on the back which was felt to be persistent and may need biopsy. Because Mr. Thomassen's blood pressure was 170/106 torr, his Atenolol was increased to 50 mg/day.


On 22 July 1997, Mr. Thomassen returned for follow‑up with Dr. Mues and complained of a "killer headache" with lots of stress and feelings of heart palpitations. On examination, the rash appeared 50% improved. Dr. Mues discussed smoking and recommended a treadmill test.


Upon referral from Dr. Mues, Thomas K. Kramer, M.D. conducted a Bruce protocol exercise treadmill test with a maximum heart rate of 130/minute. Mr. Thomassen did not experience chest pain or any electrocardiographic evidence of myocardial ischemia. Because of underlying risk factors, Dr. Kramer recommended one aspirin per day and initiated treatment for his elevated cholesterol.

On 10 September 1997, Mr. Thomassen returned for follow‑up with Dr. Mues at which time Mr. Thomassen stated that he felt "down" and had not smoked for the past three weeks. Lipitor treatment was initiated.


Mr. Thomassen made another visit to Dr. Mues' office on 06 November 1997 and complained that he was short of breath all the time.  On examination, no abnormal findings were noted.  Dr. Mues recommended restarting Lipitor because Mr. Thomassen had run out and stopped taking it.  Combivent inhaler was recommended.


Mr. Thomassen made a follow‑up visit with Dr. Mues on 09 December 1997 and reported that there was blood in his sinuses and he was experiencing bad headaches. He also indicated that he was still not smoking.  Dr. Mues issued a diagnosis of sinusitis and initiated treatment with erythromycin.  He also recommended stopping the Combivent.


On 17 December 1997, Dr. Mues noted that Mr. Thomassen was complaining of feeling "spaced out" and was experiencing less bloody drainage. Sinus x‑rays were ordered which were found to be normal. A diagnosis of rhinitis was issued and Mr. Thomassen was advised to use an humidifier with saline nasal spray.


Mr. Thomassen made a follow‑up visit with Dr. Mues on 15 April 1998 with complaints of nervousness and rash. Mr. Thomassen complained of feeling increasingly nervous and had developed a rash three weeks ago that was similar to a previous stress‑related rash which he had noticed off and on for years.  He also complained of heart palpitations that awakened him at night, usually lasting a minute or two.  On examination, it was noted that his blood pressure was elevated at 176/100 torr.  His respiratory rate was 22/minute. Faint wheezes were noted on chest examination.  Dr. Mues issued multiple diagnoses including urticaria which he felt may be stress related and prescribed Doxepin and steroid cream. The cardiac palpitations required further evaluation.  His hypertension was considered to be not doing very well in the presence of stress and may need further medication adjustment.  Dr. Mues continued to indicate that he was unsure as to the full extent of a chemical exposure.  Smoking cessation was recommended.  Although a diagnosis of depression was entered, specific treatment with narcotics or benzodiazepines were felt best to be avoided.  A referral to Dr. Kramer was made and betamethasone cream was prescribed.


Mr. Thomassen made a follow‑up visit to Dr. Mues' office on 28 April 1998 complaining of dizzy spells. It was noted that he had been seen in the emergency room and was wearing a Holter monitor. Dr. Mues issued diagnoses or urticaria and dizziness and recommended obtaining a corroded ultrasound and MRI head scan.


A follow‑up visit was made on 01 May 1998 at which time it was noted that both studies, the carotid ultrasound and MRI scan were both negative. Dr. Mues noted that Mr. Thomassen was off Atenolol and Lipitor for one week at that time. Dr. Mues characterized the dizziness as having an unknown etiology but did not feel there was any central nervous system or cardiac etiology for his symptoms. Treatment with Lipitor and Atenolol was resumed.


Dr. Burton corroborated his deposition testimony at the February 11, 1999 hearing.  After being alerted to a potential problem by its employees, the employer conducted air quality tests at its facility.  Dr. Burton also summarized these test results as follows: 



Indoor air sampling was conducted at the Business Machine Center warehouse area at thirty minute intervals on 16 ‑ 20 November 1995, 29 November ‑ 4 December 1995 and 7 ‑ 12 January 1996. The report indicates that indoor temperatures were typically in the high 60's or low 70's during work hours. An "IAQ Sensor" Reading ranges from 219 to 615. Unfortunately, the units of this measurement are not recorded although an explanation indicates: "typ. Value OSA+300. For good IAQ ASHRAE std. 300 to 400 is <1 000 ppm." Carbon dioxide units are also not indicated for the values that range between 366 to 682. A few occurrences of detectible carbon monoxide were observed to a maximum of 21 (again, units were not indicated).  


On June 1, 1998, Eugene Klecan, M.D., a diplomate of the American Board of Psychiatry, examined the employee.  At page 14 of his June 1, 1998 report, Dr. Klecan found none of the employee's complaints were related to any exposure, concluding:  



Mr. Thomassen seems like a very pleasant gentleman. But irrespective of what his agendas may or may not be, his list of complaint symptoms indicate a fictitious condition. Some professionals or lay persons may be unaware of the power of suggestion in cases of contagious hysteria. otherwise mentally healthy individuals, even sturdy, no‑nonsense male subjects, can get caught up in rapidly escalating hysteria with all manner of dramatic symptoms such as black​outs and seizures and such under certain circumstances.



In spite of his various claims of symptoms, Mr. Thomassen's mental state and mental capacity today by objective standards were normal. There was no evidence of any organic brain pathology.


Similarly, Dr. Burton came to the same conclusion.  Dr. Burton testified at length at the February 11, 1999 hearing as to why no medical evidence supports a conclusion that either of the employee's exposures caused any permanent injury.  Dr. Burton also thoroughly detailed this conclusion in his report:  


Mr. Thomassen is a 53 year‑old unemployed business machine repairman who claims that occupational exposures to fumes emitted from an adjoining office resulted in the development of numerous symptoms including lightheadedness, headaches, chest pain, nausea, depression, etc. He also claims that prior exposures encountered during the course of his duties as an automotive painter resulted in a similar set of symptoms associated with disability during 1987. Based upon these continuing symptoms Mr. Thomassen feels that he is unable to work. However, on the basis of the medical data obtained in this case, there is no evidence to indicate that Mr. Thomassen has experienced a significant exposure to chemical substances during his first described incident in 1987 or the later incident in 1995. There are no objective findings (nor are there any historical factors) upon which a diagnosis of an occupational disease or injury can be established. Mr. Thomassen carries a diagnosis of somatoform disorder, a diagnosis that best explains his expressed symptoms.


Mr. Thomassen has been previously labeled with a diagnosis of "toxic encephalopathy" following the development of his stated symptoms while employed as an automotive painter at Alaska Sales & Service. However, this diagnosis is undoubtedly erroneous for several reasons. Inhalation of high concentrations of organic vapor, i.e. paint fumes for several minutes may produce temporary symptoms of intoxication with dizziness, giddiness, lethargy or, in rare cases, loss of consciousness. These symptoms of intoxication are indistinguishable from those experienced with the ethyl alcohol contained in beer, wine and spirits. If symptoms occur from overexposure, removal from the source of exposure results in rapid resolution of symptoms without permanent sequelae. Although acute intoxication may possibly occur at the work place such an event would indicate a most deplorable work environment. Nonetheless, following such symptoms of intoxication, neurologic injury does not occur. As is the case with ordinary alcohol contained in beer, etc, only severe recurrent and long‑standing intoxication will result in neurological injury. Such an exposure was clearly not the case with Mr. Thomassen. During his Iona painting career Mr. Thomassen specifically denied any symptoms of acute intoxication ‑ nor did he describe even the mildest irritant or annoyance effects of solvents such as ocular, nasal or pharyngeal irritation. Adverse effects from paint fumes would also not be expected in view of Mr. Thomassen's meticulous use of respiratory protective practices and his utilization of a paint booth at all of his employers. Specifically, Mr. Thomassen indicates that he always wore a dual cartridge activated charcoal organic vapor respirator while engaged in any painting activities. He regularly checked for fit and seal and changed cartridges as needed. The only conceivable circumstances under which Mr. Thomassen could have become intoxicated while performing his duties would have been the omission of such protective practices. If he had done so, he would not only report that he had experienced severe irritant effects of the nose, throat and lungs but he would have experienced symptoms of intoxication while painting such as drunkenness, confusion, slurred speech, staggering, etc. Under such circumstances it would have been highly unlikely that he would have been physically able to perform his assigned tasks or avoid recognition of such behavior by co‑workers or supervisors.


In contrast to these expected symptoms of overexposure to organic vapor, Mr. Thomassen reports that he was perfectly well until a new paint product was introduced into the work place. He reports experiencing immediate symptoms upon noticing the noxious odor of the new product, symptoms which persisted for many years later in spite of removal from the workplace within a week after 'the onset of his complaints. It is implausible that such an exposure" to paint fumes could produce persistent symptoms. Thus, an alternative 'etiology for his symptoms must be considered.  (Emphasis in original).  


After eight years of continuing symptoms, but otherwise successful completion of retraining into a new technical career path as a copier repairman, Mr. Thomassen again experienced an unfamiliar odor at the workplace (now working in an office environment) and formed the belief that his symptoms had been caused by exposure to fumes generated from a printing company next door. In this case, again, it is implausible that his reported symptoms are the physiological result of an exposure to the chemicals used in the printing process. Although Mr. Thomassen undoubtedly perceived an odor, the level of exposure to hydrocarbon materials in this case was unlikely to have been even a small percentage of the permissible exposure limit for any of the printing materials. (The indoor air quality survey conducted at the Business Machine Center cannot be relied upon as useful data due to the absence of any explanation of the units measured or the technology utilized in obtaining the samples). Although noxious odor may produce temporary symptoms of discomfort which may include nausea or headache, rapid resolution always occurs following removal from the source of the odor. It should be emphasized, however, that the unpleasant experience encountered in the setting of a noxious or unfamiliar odor is not the result of the toxicologic properties of the substance but rather the olfactory sensory experience. The unpleasant and unexpected odors experienced by other workers in the Business Machine Center explains why other workers may also have complained about symptoms.


Mr. Thomassen has a well‑established diagnosis of somatoform disorder. The nature of this diagnosis has been thoroughly discussed by Dr. Brodsky who also pointed out that Mr. Thomassen's neurologic symptoms of facial numbness and dizziness are likely the result of recurrent episodes of hyperventilation. It is important to note that persons with underlying psychological disorders, particularly somatoform disorders, frequently express complaints of physical symptoms generated by internal distress. These symptoms are frequently attributed to external sources, often identified as a "chemical exposure," usually as the result of experiencing an odor. On both occasions described by Mr. Thomassen, i.e. the "exposures" of 1987 and 1995, the perception of odor was described as the sentinel event. In neither case is there any indication that the level of exposure resulted in more than mere odor perception. Absent Mr. Thomassen's attachment of his underlying symptoms to these events he would, nonetheless, have formed the belief that his symptoms were due to some other unrelated "exposure" or some other external factor. Moreover, the opportunity and motivation to identify an "exposure" as the source of his symptoms is undoubtedly shaped by reinforcement received by the worker's compensation system and physicians who uncritically label his reported symptoms as the result of "toxic exposures."


It should be noted that another source of persistent symptoms in this case is probably attributable, to Mr. Thomassen's chronic heavy smoking, i.e. one to two packs per day. As has been documented in this case, such a smoker will frequently have carbon monoxide levels that exceed 10%. In addition, heavy smokers accumulate cyanide concentrations in the blood that may result in visual disturbances including loss of central vision and other neurologic symptoms including headache, dizziness and difficulty thinking. Thus, Mr. Thomassen's smoking history in this regard may be a significant factor in the production of his multiple symptoms. It is paradoxical that he complains of symptoms generated from concentrations of hydrocarbon substances that are insignificant (barely more than the level of odor perception) while, at the same time, he inhales extremely high concentrations of numerous toxic and irritating substances contained in cigarette smoke. In addition to carbon monoxide and cyanide cigarette smoke contains high concentrations of formaldehyde, acrolein, hydrochloric acid, benzene, toluene, acetone, ammonia and more than four thousand other substances. Exposure to many of the substances contained in cigarette smoke exceeds allowable occupational exposure standards. Any continuing symptoms expressed by Mr. Thomassen is much more likely the result of his cigarette smoking habit, which is an overwhelming exposure to toxic substances when compared to his reported exposures to insignificant indoor air contaminants.


In summary, Mr. Thomassen is an unemployed business machine repairman who claims that he experiences multiple symptoms as the result of past exposures to chemical substances at his workplace. Based upon the medical data available in this case there is no evidence to indicate that Mr. Thomassen has experienced a significant exposure or that he has a diagnosable medical condition that has developed as the result of an exposure. Mr. Thomassen's continuing expression of symptoms is the result of his underlying somatoform disorder and/or his chronic cigarette smoking. (Dr. Burton report, 16 - 19).  


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW


"In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter.  AS 23.30.120(a)(1).  The presumption also applies to claims that the work aggravated, accelerated or combined with a preexisting condition to produce a disability or need for medical treatment.  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 315 (Alaska 1981).  Furthermore, in claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is needed to make the work connection.  Id., 316. The presumption can also attach in an aggravation/acceleration context without a specific event.  Providence Washington Ins. Co. v. Bonner, 680 P.2d 96 (Alaska 1984).  


Application of the presumption is a three-step process.  Gillispie v. B & B Foodland, 881 P.2d 1106, 1109 (Alaska 1994).  An employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the claimed conditions and his work.  For the purpose of determining whether the preliminary link between work and the claimed conditions has been attached, we do not assess the credibility of witnesses.  Resler v. Universal Services Inc., 778 P.2d 1146, 1148-49 (Alaska 1989) and Hoover v. Westbrook, AWCB Decision No.  97-0221 (November 3, 1997).  


The employer must then rebut the presumption by producing substantial evidence the conditions are not work-related.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  Substantial evidence is "such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion."  Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 n.1 (Alaska 1991).  The Grainger court also explained that there are two possible ways to overcome the presumption:  (1)  produce substantial evidence which provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude the work as the cause of the conditions; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility the work was a factor in causing the condition.  The same standard used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link is also necessary to overcome it.  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  An employer may rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting expert medical opinion evidence the work was probably not a cause of the claimed condition.  Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941, 942 (Alaska 1992).  Evidence used to rebut the presumption is examined by itself to determine whether it is sufficient to rebut the presumption.  Wolfer, at 869.  Medical testimony cannot constitute substantial evidence if it simply points to other possible causes of an employee's claimed condition without ruling out its work-relatedness.  Childs v. Copper Valley Elec. Ass'n, 860 P.2d 1184, 1189 (Alaska 1993).


If the presumption is rebutted, the employee must then prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, his work was a substantial factor which brings about the condition or aggravates a preexisting ailment.  Wolfer, at 870.  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  The claimed condition is then compensable if the work is a substantial factor in bringing it about.  Burgess, 317.  The work is a substantial factor if:  (1)  the condition would not have occurred at the time it did, in the way it did, or to the degree it did but for the work and (2) reasonable people regard the work as a cause of the condition and attach responsibility to it.  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533 (Alaska 1987).  Applying the presumption analysis described above to the evidence in this claim, we find as follows.  


We first consider whether the presumption attaches.  We find, based on the testimony of the employee and Drs. Ligus and Mues that the employee has attached the presumption that his claimed conditions are compensable.  


We next determine whether the presumption is rebutted.  We find, based on the opinions Drs. Burton, Klecan, Danse, Cueno, and Brodsky, without weighing their credibility, the employers have rebutted the presumption the Employee suffers from conditions which are disabling, or need treatment, as a result of the 1987 or 1995-1996 exposures.  


Because the employers have rebutted the presumption, we review the record as whole to determine whether the employee has proved his claim, by a preponderance of the evidence, the 1987 or 1995-1996 exposures are a probable cause of his current disability and need for treatment, if any.  We find he has not. 


We find that the references in Dr. Ligus and Mues' reports are based on the employee's subjective reports of exposure in the workplace.  Reviewing these reports, we find they do not definitively attribute the employee's complaints to his chemical exposures.  Further, neither Dr. Ligus' nor Dr. Mues' references linking the employee's complaints to any exposure were not supported by any objective findings.  8 AAC 45.120(k).  


On the other hand we find the employer's doctors reports to be very thorough, and rule out the employee's employment with AS&S and BMC as the cause of his complaints with extensive objective findings and testing.  Specifically, Dr. Burton thoroughly and clearly explained his testing, analysis, and conclusions at the February 11, 1999 hearing. 


We acknowledge there was an odor problem at BMC, and likely at AS&S.  Based on Dr. Burton's explanations and opinions, whom we find to be an expert in the field of occupational toxicology, we find the employee, at most, would have suffered a temporary disability from either exposure.  We find, based on Drs. Burton and Klecan,
 that the more probable explanation for the employee's conditions would be his 30 year history of cigarette abuse. 


We find that neither the exposures at AS&S nor BMC are a substantial factor of the employee's complaints.  We do not regard either of the employee's work exposures as a cause of his present conditions or attach responsibility to them. 


We conclude, based on the record as a whole, the employee has failed to prove his claims by a preponderance of the evidence.  Accordingly, we will deny and dismiss the employee's claims.  We will not address the remaining pendant issues regarding the employee's entitlement to any other disability benefits, or medical treatment raised in his applications. 



ORDER

The employee's present complaints are not related to his employment with either Alaska Sales and Service or Business Machine Center.  The employee's claims are denied and dismissed.


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this _________________ day of _________________, 1999.



ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD



___________________________________



Darryl L. Jacquot, 



Designated Chairman



___________________________________



S. T. Hagedorn, Member



___________________________________



Harriet Lawlor, Member


APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.


Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.


RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.


MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.  


CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of Paul K. Thomassen, employee / applicant; v. Business Machine Center, employer; Fireman's Fund Insurance and Cigna, insurers; Alaska Sales and Service, employer and  Providence Washington, insurer/ defendants; Case Nos. 9524590M and 8720747; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this _____________ day of _________________, 1999.

                             _________________________________

                             Sierra D. McKeever, Clerk
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     �The C&R was filed with the Board on February 28, 1991.  The C&R was approved on March 26, 1991.  


     �Craig Ligus, M.D., served as the employee's treating physician for his 1987 exposure injury since May of 1988.  


     �And arguably all of the employee's physicians, who recommended he quit smoking.  





